1960

# The State of Utah v. Irene Hedgebeth and Henry Allen : Brief of Defendants and Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Reference in Appellants' Brief to the transcript of proceedings will be designated by the letters "TR" and to the main record by the letter "R".

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendants appeal from a jury verdict finding them guilty of the crime of robbery.

All of the evidence before the court was presented by witnesses for the prose-

cution. The defendants did not testify on their own behalf.

On the 7th day of January, 1960, Alva Israelson was paid off from his job in the sum of \$72.00. That evening he spent some time drinking on 25th Street in Ogden, Utah. (TR p.14, 1.10-17) He then purchased some liquor and took it home. When he ran out of liquor the next day, he returned to 25th Street sometime in the late afternoon or evening of January 8, 1960. He bought a bottle of wine, and met the defendants in one of the bars. He had previously known defendant Irene Hedgebeth, and offered or consented to obtain a room with her. (TR p.18) He also purchased two bottles of beer (TR p.57, 1.7) apparently disposed of his own, and after visiting several other bars Alva Israelson and

defendant Irene Hedgebeth went to a room in a boarding house at 2546 Wall Ave., Ogden, Utah and were joined there by defendant Henry Allen. Irene Hedgebeth then threatened to hit Alva Israelson with a beer bottle unless he gave her enough money to get something else to drink.

(TR p. 10) Upon attempting to leave the room Mr. Israelson alleged that defendant Allen forcefully threw him on the couch and took his wallet, made him drink the rest of the wine in his bottle and then told him to get out. Mr. Israelson then called the police from a 25th Street restaurant, and then with the police returned to the apartment. (TR p.11 & 12; 24)

Defendants were arrested at about 11:05 a.m. January 9, 1960, booked and searched at the police station, (TR p.48,49) and

State's exhibit B, a cigarette lighter, and E, some money, were taken from defendant Henry Allen. Mr. Israelson's wallet was found Saturday, the 8th day of January, 1960, according to Mrs. Howard Checketts' testimony.

State's exhibits C and D, a wine bottle and a beer bottle were obtained by Ogden City Police shortly after 9:00 a.m. on the 9th day of January, 1960. (TR p.42) The complaint was not issued until the 12th day of January, 1960. (R P.1)

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT WAS IN ERROR IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE, STATE'S EXHIBITS A, B, C, D, AND E.

#### POINT II

TESTIMONY GIVEN BY SOME WITNESSES

PRODUCED BY THE STATE IS NOT WORTHY OF

CREDIBILITY.

POINT III

OGDEN CITY POLICE WERE OBVIOUSLY  
BIASED AND PREJUDICED AND THEIR ATTITUDE  
AFFECTED THE JURY AND WAS PREJUDICIAL TO  
DEFENDANTS.



ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT WAS IN ERROR IN  
RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE, STATE'S EXHIBITS  
A, B, C, D AND E.

a. Mrs. Howard Checketts testified that she always goes shopping on Saturday morning, that on the morning of the 8th of January, 1960, she went shopping at approximately 10:30 a.m. and returned to her home at 12:15 p.m. at which time she then discovered in her back yard a wallet together with certain papers designating the complaining witness as the owner. (TR p.26,27) Yet all of the other witnesses, including the complaining witness testified that the alleged robbery did not take place until between 8:30 and 9 o'clock on the evening of the 8th of January, 1960. There is a

public or semi-private alleyway running north and south directly east of Mrs. Checketts' home. Anyone desiring to put a wallet in her back yard could easily do so by simply dropping it out of the car window while proceeding through the alley. While there may have been a mistake, there was no attempt at the trial to clarify the error or to make plain to the jury just what day the wallet was found. It was error to admit the wallet into evidence as the State's exhibit A without clarifying for the jury the date on which the wallet was found by the prosecution's witness Mrs. Checketts.

b. The complaining witness Alva Israelson first testified that defendant Irene Hedgebeth took his cigarette lighter from him when she was going through his pockets for change in the apartment.

(TR p.10, 1.24 and 25) Upon further cross-examination, Mr. Israelson in a masterpiece of deductive reasoning stated that he had had his lighter with him the evening of January 7, and throughout the following day, January 8, and then he didn't have it any more. This was after he had already stated that defendant had definitely taken the lighter from him at the apartment.

(TR p.55, 1.20-27) He also testified that he purchased the lighter on a special two packs of Newport Cigarettes which made it a little special. (TR p.55, 1.11-14) It can easily be assumed that other people bought Newport Cigarettes and obtained a lighter exactly similar to the one Mr. Israelson identified simply by a purchase.

c. Sergeant Butcher testified that he went to the apartment at 9 a.m. on the morning

of January 9, and did pick up a wine bottle which was taken as evidence. This wine bottle was admitted into evidence on Sergeant Butcher's testimony that Officer Gill had initialed the bottle at the apartment for identification. Officer Gill got on the stand and failed completely to identify the bottle or his alleged initials or to corroborate the testimony of Officer Butcher. (TR p.42)

d. The usual means of scientific detection usually relied upon by the police department in cases of this nature were not only overlooked, but apparently intended not to be used. Lt. Robert Carver apparently has sole access to the evidence closet in the crime laboratory. (TR p.50, 1.21-25) He did not receive the exhibits until January 11, (TR p.50, 1.15) at which time he apparently

examined the items for finger prints and discovered none which were identifiable on the wallet. Finger prints are easily identifiable on glass, yet there was no testimony showing the bottles or the cigarette lighter had been tested for finger prints and the money, which certainly was used as evidence in this case, was never submitted to Officer Carver to be put in his evidence closet and he, therefore, had no opportunity to test it for finger prints, or otherwise identify it.

At the trial counsel objected to the admission of these exhibits as evidence and the objection was erroneously overruled, which resulted in prejudicial error to these defendants.

## POINT II

### TESTIMONY GIVEN BY SOME WITNESSES

PRODUCED BY THE STATE IS NOT WORTHY OF CREDIBILITY.

a. Georgie Reed testified that while attempting to unlock the door to her apartment, she and her "husband" heard conversation coming from the apartment across the hall such as the following: (TR p.30, 1.26)

"A. We was just having trouble getting in the house, so I heard Irene say to whatever his name is, 'I'll kill you' or something to the man. He broke out of the house and he said, 'I'm going to call the police.'"

But just prior to that Georgie Reed testified at page 29, line 20:

"Q. Mrs. Reed, do you know the defendant, Irene Hedgebeth?"

"A. When I see her."

"Q. And do you know the defendant, Henry Allen?"

"A. When I see him."

"BY MR. HENDRICKS. What was your answer?"

"A. I don't know them by name, I know them when I see them."

Apparently Mrs. Reed did not know the defendants well enough to know their names, but she knew them well enough to identify their voices out in the hallway.

She then testified (TR p.32, 1.7) as follows:

"A. Yes. He left then."

"Q. He left then?"

"A. Yes. Then they later left."

"Q. Then they left along about 10?"

"A. Right after he left, they left.

When the police came they wasn't there."

"Q. Do you know when he come back?"

"A. Who? The policemen?"

"Q. Yes."

" "A. I was still trying to get in my house."

"Q. Did you tell the police at that time."

"A. No, I didn't. I went in the house and called Robert Drake and asked him did he know they was in his house and he said no."

Robert Drake then testified for the prosecution at page 36, line 13 as follows:

"A. Yes sir. At about 9:30 or 10 o'clock that night I received a phone call from Mrs. Reed. She called me."

"Q. When you arrived at the apartment, Mr. Drake, was anyone there."

"A. No one was there when I got there about ten or fifteen minutes after, and that's when the officers came."

It seems rather inconsistent that Mrs. Reed did not call Drake until after she had



entered her apartment and that she did not enter her apartment until after the police arrived and yet Drake was able to receive her phone call and get home to his apartment before the police arrived.

Obviously, Georgie Reed is lying and her inconsistent testimony further strengthens this fact. Her testimony is entirely unworthy of belief and yet, she is the only witness who identified the defendants as having been in the company of Mr. Israelson save for his own testimony.

b. Mr. Israelson alleged that he was not too drunk to remember accurately the events of the evening of January 8, but blandly admitted that his lack of judgment in taking a room with defendant Irene Hedgebeth was occasioned by his having had too much to drink. (TR p.18, 1.3-7) Upon

cross-examination, he admitted that he had been drinking on 25th Street the previous afternoon and evening, had taken a bottle home and then had come back to 25th Street the late afternoon and evening of the 8th. Thus having imbibed intoxicating beverages for two days, he was nevertheless able to present a clear and convincing account of an alleged robbery that never took place.

He further testified that after he called the police he returned with them to the apartment and no one was there. (TR p.24, 1.28)

But the State's witness, Robert Drake, testified he was there when the police arrived. (TR p.36, 1.13-21)

By his own admission, he was ready to pass out, (TR p.25, 1.18-23) and though he pretended to remember other details so perfectly, he was so drunk he could not

identify the police officers who supposedly went back to the apartment with him. (TR p.25, 1.7-10)

It also is rather inconsistent that Alva Israelson allegedly called the police to report the robbery, but had to be subpoenaed along with Georgie Reed to testify at the preliminary hearing. (R p.2) See also (TR p.58, 59)

### POINT III

OGDEN CITY POLICE WERE OBVIOUSLY BIASED AND PREJUDICED AND THEIR ATTITUDE AFFECTED THE JURY AND WAS PREJUDICIAL TO DEFENDANTS.

Defendants had been picked up, booked and searched at the Ogden Police Station by 11:26 a.m. on the morning of January 9. Assuming arguendo that Mrs. Checketts meant to testify that she found the wallet at about

12:15 p.m. on the 9th day of January, 1960, according to the testimony in the record this information could not have been relayed to the police until about an hour after the defendants had been arrested. (TR p.27)

Apparently, Officer Butcher was confident the wallet would be "found." Therefore, the arrest order for these defendants was not based upon the wallet turning up next to Irene Hedgebeth's boarding house unless they had knowledge of that fact that was not conveyed to the court or the jury.

The wallet was the only exhibit at the preliminary hearing. (R. p.4)

Officer Vern Butcher and Officer Fred Gill in their capacity as law enforcement officers have been key witnesses in other cases involving similar patterns of conduct on 25th Street. See State vs. Danks,

350 P. 2d 146 1960. The enmity between the defendants and Officer Butcher had been very well known, and attempts had been made by Officer Butcher on previous occasions to involve defendant Henry Allen in other crimes.

Officer Butcher testified that information on the alleged crime came from the night sergeant, that he did not put out the order of arrest and didn't know who did order their arrest. Officer Butcher apparently knew defendants were suspect from reading a report. (TR p.44) But there is no testimony to show that the complaining witness, Alva Israelson, had returned to the police station, the morning of January 9th to further embellish his admittedly drunken tale of the previous night. Therefore, from the record it appears that a 25th Street drunk called the police and alleged

he had been robbed. In the company of the police, he then went to the apartment of Mr. Drake. The police did not then search the apartment for evidence but waited until approximately 9:00 a.m. the next morning to gather two bottles, neither of which showed defendants' finger prints. There was absolutely no investigation the night of the alleged robbery. Mr. Israelson was sent home. (TR p.25) Georgie Reed was not questioned that night. (TR p.32, 1.16-30) But the investigation proceeded swiftly when Officer Butcher came on duty. Bottles were collected, a conveniently placed wallet was found; money, a very rare bit of evidence, was taken from the defendants, but not given to Lt. Carver for examination or as evidence.

Apparently, this was all done without

further contact with the complaining witness. In fact, the complaint was not signed or filed until January 12, 1960, and is irregular on its face by virtue of a correction in ink which, though initialed, is not dated. Apparently no one seemed to know on just what day this crime was to be committed.

### CONCLUSION

Of all the testimony presented by witnesses for the State, only the facts related by Mrs. Howard Checketts, Mr. Robert Drake and Lt. Carver are worthy of belief. All other persons involved in the case were so obviously biased and contradictory in their testimony that their stories take on an aura of superficiality and become hardly credible. Officers Gill and Butcher were prejudiced and made no

attempt to preserve inviolate the evidence they submitted to the court. None of the usual police methods for identification were used and additionally, they withheld from the officer in charge of evidence the money which they allegedly took from the defendant Henry Allen.

Georgie Reed was obviously scared of the truth and was apparently pressured into testifying for fear that her private affairs may be closely investigated and disturbed should she fail to cooperate.

Finally, Alva Israelson with shabby habits and morals and a tendency toward alcoholism, attempted time after time to delude the court and the jury with the thought that he had sallied forth to the 25th Street Shrine of Bacchus as a jovial, innocent youth, but had been conquered by



overwhelming odds. Thus, the defendants could only be convicted upon the testimony of Mrs. Checketts, who testified that the wallet was found before the alleged crime was committed, Mr. Drake and Lt. Carver, and their testimony is not sufficient upon which to base a conviction because it is so inconclusive and unsatisfactory that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt of defendants' guilt. State vs. Sullivan 6 Utah 2d 110, 114, 307 P. 2d 212, 215.