1960

The State of Utah v. Irene Hedgebeth and Henry Allen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent does not dispute the statement of facts set forth in appellants' brief.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE STATE'S EXHIBITS A, B, C, D AND E.

POINT II.

DETERMINING WHETHER OR NOT A WITNESS IS CREDIBLE IS THE FUNCTION OF A

JURY AND IS NOT REVIEWABLE BY THE APPELLATE COURT.

POINT III.

THE RECORD DOES NOT INDICATE THAT THE OGDEN CITY POLICE WERE ANY MORE BIASED OR PREJUDICED THAN ORDINARY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

POINT IV.

IF THERE WAS ERROR IN RECEIPT OF STATE'S EXHIBITS A, B, C, D AND E, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN RECEIVING INTO EVIDENCE STATE'S EXHIBITS A, B, C, D AND E.

(a) The initial objection raised by defendants is that State's Exhibit A, a wallet, was received into evidence without clarifying whether it was found on Friday, January 8, 1960, or Saturday, January 9, 1960. The pertinent part of the transcript is as follows:

“Q. Mrs. Checketts, I'll call your attention to the morning of January 8th just at about 10:30 a.m. of that day and ask you whether or not you had occasion to go downtown here in Ogden.

A. I go downtown every Saturday morning and purchase my groceries and do any other shopping I need to, and I left home about 10:30—

MR. HENDRICKS: (interposing A.M. or P.M.?)

A. A.M. No grocery stores are open around town at 10 p.m.

Q. Mrs. Checketts, did you later in the day return to your home?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Approximately what time?

A. Around a quarter after twelve at noon.

Q. And did you at that time have occasion to go to your back yard, Mrs. Checketts?

A. Yes, I go to the back door and open it so my husband can bring the groceries in through it.

Q. On this occasion as you entered your apartment on the 9th, did you find anything that appeared to be unusual?

A. As I opened the back door —

MR. HENDRICKS: (interposing) Object to the leading questions. * * *''

It is true that the prosecuting attorney framed his initial question concerning the date using January 8, 1960. The witness, however, answered that she went downtown every Saturday (which would have been January 9, 1960) without mentioning the day of the month. The prosecution later corrected the mistake when he questioned the witness about when she entered her apartment on January 9th. (Tr. 27)

It is improbable that a natural and innocuous slip caused any confusion in the minds of the jury. Defendants' attorney was present and did not correct the error; in fact, he did not even cross-examine the witness.

The testimony of Officer Butcher later in the trial (Tr. 45) also indicated that the wallet was found on the 9th of January, 1960.

(b) The Trial Judge did not err in receiving Exhibit B in evidence. The exhibit, a cigarette lighter, was relevant as it tended to establish a material proposition. Admitting this exhibit could not have aroused the jury's emotions of prejudice nor created a side issue to mislead the jury. A fair standard for determining the relevancy of evidence is set out by McCormick on Evidence (Ch. 16, para 152, p. 318) :

“Does the evidence render the inference more probable than it would be without the evidence?”

Further as to the standard a judge should use in making the determination, McCormick states :

“The answer must filter through the judge's experience, his judgment and his knowledge of human conduct and motivation.”

In *Thompson v. American Steel and Wire Company*, 317 Pa. 7, 11, 175 A. 541, 1934, the court stated, speaking of the Judge :

“He is constantly faced with questions on evidence in their special relation to the issue to be tried. He must deal with such questions in the light of the purposes of the ultimate inquiry and does so in the exercise of what is known as judicial discretion. He should see that nothing relevant is excluded so long as its admission will not unduly distract the attention of the jury from the main inquiry by first requiring the ascertainment

of an unnecessary quantity of subordinate facts from which the main inference would ultimately be made. His conclusion or decision on such points will not be interfered with on appeal save for manifest abuse of power.”

Although the complaining witness, Mr. Israelson, was unable to identify positively the cigarette lighter, admission of it as an exhibit was not prejudicial as it was used to show that at the time of the defendant, Henry Allen's, arrest, he had a lighter which was at least similar to the one taken from the complaining witness. The Court's decision to receive Exhibit B was made in the exercise of judicial discretion and the record does not indicate the Judge abused his power in any way.

(c) It is true that Officer Gill failed to identify Exhibit C or his initials thereon. However, Officer Butcher was present when Officer Gill obtained the bottle and initialed it, and at the trial identified the bottle by the initials of Officer Gill. Exhibit D, the beer bottle, could have been more precisely identified; nevertheless, Officer Butcher was present when the beer bottle was found in the apartment, and so testified. Since the bottle was introduced merely to show that a beer bottle was found in the apartment, it was not error to receive it.

(d) Whether or not scientific detection was used is not applicable on review, as this matter would go to the weight of the evidence and would not affect the admissibility as long as reasonable methods were followed. This is especially true where an attempt to obtain fingerprints was not made immediately after taking the exhibit into

custody. The fact that Lt. Carver did not receive the exhibit until January 11, 1960, appears to have little impact in determining if scientific detection was used.

POINT II.

DETERMINING WHETHER OR NOT A WITNESS IS CREDIBLE IS THE FUNCTION OF A JURY AND IS NOT REVIEWABLE BY THE APPELLATE COURT.

The appellate court should not pass on the credibility of witnesses as this is a question solely for the determination of the jury or the trial court in cases tried without a jury, the reason being that the jury or judge who see and hear witnesses testify have an opportunity to observe their demeanor and appearance and are in a better position to determine the credibility. In *Gittens v. Lundberg*, 284 P. 2d 1115, 3 U. 2d 392, the court stated:

“It is the duty of this court to leave the question of credibility of witnesses to the jury as fact trier and we have quite consistently adhered to that policy. As has often been said, the jury is in a favorable position to form impressions as to the trust to be reposed in witnesses. They have the advantage of fairly close personal contact; the opportunity to observe appearances and general demeanor; and the chance to feel the impact of personality, all of which they may consider in connection with the reactions, manner, approaches and apparent frankness and candor or want of it in reacting to and answering questions on both direct and cross examination in determining whether and to what extent witnesses are to be believed.”

POINT III.

THE RECORD DOES NOT INDICATE THAT THE OGDEN CITY POLICE WERE ANY MORE BIASED OR PREJUDICED THAN ORDINARY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS.

Defendants imply that arresting defendants prior to finding Exhibit A, the wallet, was improper and that this act prejudiced defendants. This position is untenable. The record before the Court contains nothing which even suggests that finding the wallet was the justification for defendants' arrest. The fact that the wallet was the only exhibit at the preliminary hearing has no bearing on the arrest. Defendants' statements regarding the enmity between the defendants and Officer Butcher is an extraneous issue and is outside the scope of this appeal as this issue was not raised in the trial court. While it is admitted that certain procedures of the investigating officers could have been improved, there is nothing in the record which indicates that the defendants have been prejudiced. Volume 30, C. J. S., Sec. 1031b, page 1073, sets forth the general law on bias as follows:

“The interest or bias of a witness, or the absence thereof, may be considered as affecting the weight of his testimony, the weight of the testimony of an interested witness, depending largely on the facts in each case. So where a party testifies as a witness his interest in the outcome of the cause may and should be considered in determining probative value of his testimony. However, the interest or bias of a witness does not ipso facto wholly deprive his testimony of probative force.”

POINT IV.

IF THERE WAS ERROR IN RECEIPT OF STATE'S EXHIBITS A, B, C, D AND E, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

5A C. J. S., para. 1724, page 945, states :

“A judgment will not be reversed because of the erroneous admission of evidence where it did not, or probably did not, affect the result, conclusion, judgment or verdict or could not have done so, or was not reasonably calculated to cause a result unfair to the complaining party or was not of such a character to reasonably tend to cause the rendition of an improper verdict or could not have materially affected decisive issues, or could not have misled, confused, influenced or prejudiced the minds of the jury.”

Respondent contends that there was no error in receiving the exhibits in question, but if there were, defendants have not been prejudiced. In the case of the wallet, had the jury believed it had been found the day prior to the incident, the respondent's case certainly would have been weakened, which would have been advantageous to the defendants. The bottles were not properly identified by the particular officer who marked them; however, Officer Butcher did testify that he was present and that he and Officer Gill jointly obtained the bottles. There was no positive identification of the cigarette lighter and the attorney for the defendants called this fact to the jury's attention. Receiving the money as evidence had probative value and was used only for the purpose of showing that one of the defendants had money on his person.

CONCLUSION

The record on appeal does not indicate that any of the evidence admitted unlawfully prejudiced the defendants. The latter, entirely within their rights, failed to testify, thereby waiving an opportunity to clarify any issue which might have been offensive to their position. There appears to be some question as to the force used against Israelson and as to whether or not he was actually placed in fear, and also as to his sobriety on the evening in question. However, we do not feel that the Court committed prejudicial error in its conduct of the trial and it is the function of the jury to make its decision as to guilt or innocence.